Human Rights Council

The Question of Reproductive Rights and Abortion

Head Chair: Kim Chhay Houth

Deputy Chair: Meng Tang

Assistant Chair: Tina Sam





Contents

Introduction	2
Definition of Key Terms	
Background Information	3
Current Situation	3
Major Parties Involved	4
Timeline of Relevant Events	7
Related UN Treaties and Events	8
Previous Attempts	9
Possible Solutions	10
Suggested Reading	11
Bibliography	13



Introduction

Reproductive rights depict the legal rights to contraception, prenatal services, reproductive healthcare and treatment, choice and abortion. These rights have led to many protests concerning laws established within the respective countries. Limiting reproductive rights leads to grave consequences for the wellbeing and equality of the people. Having limited reproductive rights, especially for abortion, will lead to many harmful, unsafe and illegal practices for the country. Being denied essential healthcare and prenatal services produces a high rate of maternal mortality for women and unborn children. Wrongful changes in reproductive rights guides to gender inequalities in choices, child marriages causing increase of young pregnancies, discrimination from families, friends and communities, economic hardships for low-income families and lack of personal freedom for women. Demands for equal reproductive rights increases, especially when culture may infringe on the very equality of the rights. Despite the numerous protests about these rights, many unfair and unequal reproductive rights are still present within the world such as unethical laws that punish and restrict women.

Definition of Key Terms

Legal Rights

An entitlement recognized and protected by law of the country. Allows people to exercise their freedom and pursue their interests.

Contraception

Use of medicine, technology or surgery to prevent pregnancy.

Prenatal Services

Healthcare, service and support given during pregnancy. Aimed towards promoting healthy pregnancies and wellbeing of both the mother and fetus. Some prenatal services may include screening for genetic disorders, infections and other health conditions that may affect the pregnancy

Reproductive Healthcare

Healthcare offered, given or furnished for the prevention of pregnancy, terminating a pregnancy, managing pregnancy lost, or improving maternal health and outcomes.

Abortion

A deliberate termination of a fetus is often performed during the first 28 weeks (about 6 and a half months) of a pregnancy.

Maternal Mortality

Deaths due to complications from pregnancy (miscarriages), or childbirth.



Background Information

In 1960, the invention of birth control pills was followed with the women's reproductive rights movement. Birth control pills were and is still a crucial part of women' reproductive rights, it allowed women to make their own choices for themselves. Women in 1960 campaigned for rights to contraception and abortion, which allowed the birth control pills to be safely inspected and tested by the FDA for women.

A decade later the movement gained more attention from people as lesbian feminists has risen and shifted the people's attention to women's right to sexual pleasure. With this, a greater and stronger movement for rights to abortion was created and was successful. In 1973 women were allowed to have abortions in the US. But this was short lived as some states in the US have made abortion illegal in 2022 and was met with numerous protests with this decision lasting till today.

Many existing cultures in the world have created laws which restrict women's reproductive rights. An example is abortion, many cultures around the world have made it illegal for any contraception and abortion. Those countries have had numerous protests but were shut down by the government of each. These countries have created inequalities for women and infringing on their reproductive rights that is also part of the human rights. Especially in the middle east where women are treated unequally and given no individual rights. The Catholic church is another example of religion affecting women rights, as it is said to be immoral for women to have abortions.

Current Situation

Still many countries still have made it illegal to have abortions and contraception, apart from some countries allowing it under certain circumstances. Still many countries have restricted women's reproductive rights and rights in general, causing many protests within the world. Many countries have tried to stop these protests in many inhumane methods of punishment, torture, and police brutality. In many of the latest protest in the world, there has been more and more fatalities of the protesters from police brutality and violence.

Philippines have had a decline in birth rates within the decade, this incited the government to keep the ban abortion, in hopes of fixing the low fertility rate in the country. Even with the problem of single motherhood in Philippines, the government has tried to limit the issue by creating a solo parent cash assistant program, and not allowing abortion.

The DPRK (Democratic People's Republic of Korea) has one of the poorest economy in the world, making it crucial for the country to ban abortion to aim for more workers, to increase the economy. The economy makes it almost unlivable for people, as there are food shortages frequently and mothers are expected to take care of the child or children. By banning abortion, the government has violated many important human rights in the country.



Women are still treated badly with unethical laws in some countries to punish and torture the woman for disobeying the law on contraception and abortion when it was not their choice to take in the child. With these unreasonable laws it has impacted equality heavily creating an environment where females are abused with discrimination and unfair treatment. These situations do vary greatly depending on each country and culture, as culture is a huge part of the laws in each country. The Catholic church is a prime example of this phenomenon, the church has continuously stated that abortion is immoral and bans the practices in countries where the main religion is the Catholic Church. Progress has been made in parts of the rights, but it will need more work and changes to ensure safe and ethical laws regarding reproductive rights.

Major Parties Involved

USA

In 1973, the USA passed a law legalizing abortion within the whole country after a supreme court case bringing up the issue to the country. The court ruled that it was constitutional to allow women to have abortions for women. Through the development of the USA, more and more states within the country have started to ban abortion under all circumstances. 14 states have banned abortion as of January 2023. This ban was a consequence of a recent Supreme Court Case of Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization, the case rippled through the policy and legal system of the country. This change had massive implications on many women may have grave consequences for those. The new policy has been talked about breaking many human rights as a result. Rights such as access to comprehensive healthcare, privacy, conscience, religion or belief, equality, non-discrimination, freedom of expression, bodily integrity and autonomy and freedom of thought.

Poland

In 1956 abortion was legalized under the conditions of the pregnancy. Over the next 70 years, the regulation became stricter with the circumstance that abortion was allowed. Many women have been left more vulnerable over the recent years with the change of, abortion due to baby abnormalities is not a valid reason. Many women took to protest on the change with an increasing number of women speaking up against it. Arguments about the economic factor for raising a baby are already affecting families, and with the addition of special care for abnormalities raises serious concerns within the country. In a recent case in 2020, Poland was ruled by the European court to have violated human rights of a woman who needed an abortion. The woman was forced to go abroad for an abortion after being denied by the government. The European court said the act violated the human rights of privacy and family life and the government was ordered to pay the woman. This case shows the strict law enforcement of the country with lots of collaboration in reappealing the law to loosen the restrictions on Abortion.



The European Union (The EU)

The European Union has made policies regarding abortion and making it legal under circumstances and having to request from the government to be allowed to have abortions. Most of the countries in the EU have made abortion legal, while some countries' policies make it almost impossible to get an abortion and some have entirely banned the process under any circumstances. Countries such as The Vatican City, Malta, Andora and San Marino, has made it completely illegal to have any abortion within the country, this has sparked a numerous amount of protest regarding the issue and having numerous protests supporting the issue. This had an effect creating many controversies in each of the countries. Altogether the Union has made strong regional efforts for reproductive rights.

Central America (El Salvador and Nicaragua)

In Central America, abortion rights and laws are very diverse as the region is filled with many cultures. Mainly abortion in the region is legal under certain conditions, except for El Salvador and Nicaragua. In those 2 countries laws are heavily influenced by the Catholic Church has a large presence and hold strong influence in these countries. The church actively opposed legalizing abortion, many law makers and politicians in both countries have believed that abortion is morally wrong and should not be legal. Women who even have a miscarriage can face criminal charges and prison time. The country has been condemned by many human rights organizations for violating women's rights.

Greater Antilles (Dominican Republic, Haiti and Jamaica)

The Greater Antilles is divided on the ban of abortion. The Greater Antilles consists of 6 countries, with 3 countries banning the act and 3 countries allowing it under conditions. 3 countries who banned abortion, Dominican Republic, Haiti and Jamaica, all have strong presence of the Catholic Church and other religious groups who are all opposing abortion, stating it as morally wrong. With these concerns and influence in the countries, each government has banned abortion in all cases. Same as some countries in Central America, miscarriages might result in a criminal charge or imprisonment. These laws have put a heavy strain on the women in the country and violates many human rights for those populations. On average 11% of people in the region that are single parents showing the strain of unwanted births on the people in the country.

Middle East Region (Saudia Arabia, Iran, Quatar, Egypt, Sudan, Yemen, Palestine and Syria) The Middle East Region is full of diverse cultures that play a big part in the abortion law in these countries. Egypt, Sudan, Yemen, Palestine and Syria are countries in the middle east that has banned abortion in any situation, due to the culture that within those countries, numerous attempts of any change in the freedom of reproductive rights for women is rejected within the country. Due to the cultural belief of prioritizing the sanctity of life and importance of family, abortion is seen as immoral action to take and will be punished.



In many of those countries' women have had abortion in secret due to their situations, protests are held many times and ended in failure. Though in Saudia Arabia, Iran and Quatar abortion is legal, but under certain reasons and with the allowance of the husband. This had infringed on human right of privacy, as females are not allowed to have their own choice.

Madagascar

The government of Madagascar had set a ban on abortion which was met with many backlashes from the population. The rule had violated many human rights in the country, the Pope within the country decided that abortion was immoral, and people had followed his influence. In 2017, the parliament decided to maintain the illegality of abortions and had resulted in the Nifin'Akanga movement protesting the change. Even with the ban on abortion, 1 in 4 women in the country has resorted to illegal and unsafe abortion from medical practitioners and doctors, the consequence of the action is an average of 3 deaths each day from the unsafe and illegal abortions.

Philippines

The Philippines has most of its population following the Catholic Church, the church's belief affect the law in the country, making abortion illegal. Many of the leaders in the church has stated that it would follow its religion than America's law in 1973. In the recent years the Philippines had seen a decline in birth rates, which further confirm the government's stance on the issue. Abortion in the country has been a controversial topic, with the country's total births at about 1.36 million, more than 50% of the resulting births were unwanted. Now the single mothers in the country had face many economic problems in taking care of the child and are unable to find a suitable job for taking care of the child and working.

Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)

The Democratic Republic of Congo has very restrictive laws on abortions in the country, until it was banned completely. The ban with met with an increased number of maternal mortality due to the women, finding illegal and unsafe ways to have an abortion. With the Maputo Protocol, in 2018, which planned for women rights group and researchers to spread awareness in the change of legal abortion in under specified situations. The government has taken steps to improve the reproductive rights in the country.



Timeline of Relevant Events

Date	Description
1960	Contraception pills approved by FDA During this year the women's rights movement has gained traction from many people, this time their focus was on reproductive rights of women. Numerous protests have been held for women to have access to contraception and abortion, this protest was support by many male and female politicians playing a huge role to spread the information. The US had allowed and made it more accessible to have contraception pills.
1973	Supreme Court case Roe v. Wade During this year there was a case to establish women's legal right to have an abortion. The Court approved of abortion being a fundamental right that is implied in the 14th amendment in America. Through all of this, the government still had the power to restrict or regulate access to abortion for the various stages of pregnancy.
1994	The International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) The conference was held in Cairo, Egypt, the conference had brought in over 179 countries in discussion of development in reproductive health. The result of the conference was The Program of Action recognizing that reproductive rights are human rights and urges for national and global efforts to increase access to family planning and maternal health and services in the world. The ICPD till today, has been active in making abortion more accessible to people and has actively raised awareness on the issue.
2012	National Rural Health Mission (NRHM) The NRHM was launched in India aiming to help improve healthcare services in rural which includes reproductive healthcare. The Programme focuses on the accessibility of the healthcare and giving quality healthcare services to those in need. The program has been given credit on reducing the maternal mortality rate in India and spreading more awareness on the issue in rural areas.



Г	T
2020	Poland's ban of Abortion Before 2020, abortion in Poland was legal with the right relevant cases on being, assaulted, when the mother's life is at risk or any abnormalities with the baby. On October 2020, The Constitutional Tribunal decided that in cases of fetal abnormalities will not be a valid reason as it is unconstitutional. This effectively banned most abortions in the country. The decision's ruling sparked national protests in the country with the population united against it. Till today the government has not made any changes or any response to the people.
2021	Mexican State of Veracruz Legalizing Abortion In 2021, the state of Veracruz became the fourth state in Mexico to legalize Abortion within the state. The law was crucial for many women in the state and country, access to abortion is very limited and costly for people in the country. Access to safe and legal abortion is very limited in the country, with this move abortion will be more accessible and safer for the population and decrease maternal mortality in the country. Some activists are still active in lowering the price of abortion and making it more accessible for people and people in rural areas.

Related UN Treaties and Events

• The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discriminations Against Women:

This is an international treaty adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979. The CEDAW primary goal is to promote and protect women's rights. The Convention also understands the need of gender equality and aims to eliminate every discrimination on women. CEDAW has 189 member states that have encouraged the convention.

• The Inter-American Convention on the Prevention, Punishment and Eradication of Violence against Women:

The treaty was adopted by the Organization of American States (OAS) in 1994 to combat and eliminate violence against women. The convention has been ratified by almost all member states in the OAS, but apart from Canada and the United States of America, that has not ratified or sign for the convention. The convention has been a crucial component of the regional commitment to stop violence against women in the Americas. Internation standards for the prevention and punishment and elimination of violence against women was set by the convention.



• Maputo Protocol:

The protocol is an addition to the African Charter on Human and People' Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa. The protocol was created in 2003 by the African Union with the aim to protect women from discrimination and violence. The protocol was also made to ensure women participation in the political areas and promoting economic empowerment for women. To this date, 43 African states have signed the protocol with 42 states that have ratified it and 2 states not a part of the protocol.

• The Declaration of the Elimination of Violence against Women in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations:

This was a political declaration made in June 2004 signed by all ASEAN member states with the exception of the newer members joining. The declaration strongly urges the commitment of all 10-member state, at that time, to end violence against women, with the collaboration of the CEDAW, the 1995 Beijing Declaration and the Platform for Action, for strong collaboration within the region.

• The Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against women and Domestic Violence:

The convention is a treaty signed by 45 member states and with 34 members who ratified it, in 2011. The Convention was created to combat violence against women and any domestic violence. The violence against women is recognized as a violation of human rights and as discrimination against women. The Convention strongly calls for all signatory member states to put coherent legislation and policies to stop and prevent violence, perpetrators, protect and support victims and strengthen national and international cooperation.

Previous Attempts

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDG) was adopted in 2015, the SDGs focuses on improving the global environment and many social problems that exist within the world. Many of the goals are put in place and are linked to the problem of reproductive rights and health, UNSDG #3, Good Health and Wellbeing and UNSDG #5, Reduce Inequalities. The UN has made many and signed many organizations to work on the problem of reproductive rights, but many countries have still not allowed any organizations to help with the issue as it goes against their culture or law. Many talks on the issues has been held in the UN but still many countries have not changed the laws in their countries. This has been a repeated topic address in UN conferences with strong but slow development in those rights.



The International Conference on Population and Development was a convention hosted in Cairo, Egypt, 1994, that brought together 179 countries to discuss on the situation on reproductive rights. The conference ended with the Programme of action being created, signed and ratified by many countries brought together. The Programme of action also focused on the role of women in population matters which introduced the first concept of reproductive health and reproductive rights. The conference created an easier pathway for countries to receive support from the programme and develop their country through funding and resources. The Programme of Action provides guidance to all the participants nationally and internationally on the topic.

SheDecides is a global movement created in 2017 that promotes and protects women's rights in making decisions on their body, while giving access to reproductive health care services. The movement has 190 countries supporting it and raised millions of funds. The funds given were also used for teaching women about sexual education. The movement allows for women to have access to safe, contraception's and abortions. Funds were also going to many organizations working on the issue in the different country allowing a stronger solution to the country. The efforts put in were not able to change the law in many countries today and resulted in many maternal deaths in those countries.

Possible Solutions

Advocating for policy changes on reproductive rights on a national scale will draw the government's attention to the people. By advocating for change people will not have to resort to illegal and unsafe methods of abortion which will lower maternal mortality within the country creating a stronger balance and population of women. With advocating the people will be allowed to voice their opinion and change on many areas of reproductive rights, with the population supporting, awareness on this problem will spread very quickly across national borders. Advocating is a strong and safe way to promote opinions and while having the government react quickly to the call for change. Though it may be a limited solution to many governments, but in countries where the government will listen to their people, it will be highly effective.

Sexuality Education is crucial to have people understand the need for reproductive rights. By educating the people will be able to understand and support the movement in change, people will be able to sympathies with the need easier, by learning on the importance of those rights to females. By educating governments, it allows for an easier decision in allowing abortion within national borders. Education on this topic will also allow women to make more informed decision on their private life decreasing maternal mortality rates in the country.



The effectiveness of educating government and people will be strong, as governments can understand and acknowledge the problem and need of reproductive rights. Both men and women will be able to stand up for reproductive rights against government's decisions.

Creating more access to safe contraception and abortion from organizations will influence the choice from many governments in the country, as many economic problems will be brought out through the sudden change which will be costly to the government. With this, by having international organizations lend aid, it will be remarkably effective in creating better policies in national borders.

Suggested Reading

Delegate's stances on the topic:

"The World's Abortion Laws - Center for Reproductive Rights." *Center for Reproductive Rights*, 20 Dec. 2023, reproductive rights.org/maps/worlds-abortion-laws/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

ICPD Convention in 1994:

"Explainer: What Is the ICPD and Why Does It Matter? - World." *ReliefWeb*, Apr. 2019, reliefweb.int/report/world/explainer-what-icpd-and-why-does-it-matter#:~:text=ICPD%20stands%20for%20the%20International,national%20and%20global %20development%20efforts. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Recent Backlashes from countries against protesting:

"The Global Backlash against Women's Rights." *Human Rights Watch*, 8 Mar. 2023, www.hrw.org/news/2023/03/07/global-backlash-against-womens-rights. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Reason of anti abortion laws in the Middle East:

Ouayda, Adam. "Abortion in the Middle East: It's Not Only about Religion - SKEMA ThinkForward." *SKEMA ThinkForward*, 8 June 2023, knowledge.skema.edu/abortion-middle-east-religion-

infanticide/#:~:text=A%20plural%20Middle%20East&text=3%20countries%20allow%20abo rtion%20in,allow%20it%20early%20and%20freely.&text=6%25%20of%20all%20maternal%20deaths%20are%20the%20result%20of%20unsafe%20abortion. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Conventions Promoting Women's Rights:

"Treaties and Conventions Promoting Women's Rights: An Overview." *Focus 2030*, 2019, focus 2030.org/Treaties-and-conventions-promoting-women-s-rights-an-overview. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.



Countries' Stances and Organizations supporting:

"International Women's Rights: Global Overview 2023." *Focus 2030*, 2023, focus 2030.org/International-women-s-rights-global-overview-2023?var_mode=calcul. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

About the CEDAW and action on women's rights:

"Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) for Youth." *UN Women – Headquarters*, May 2013, www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2016/12/cedaw-for-

youth#:~:text=The%20Convention%20on%20the%20Elimination,women's%20and%20girls' %20equal%20rights. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.



Bibliography

European Abortion Laws a Comparative Overview.

Hodali, Diana. "Egyptian Activists: We Need to Talk about Abortion." *Dw.com*, Deutsche Welle, 17 Jan. 2023, www.dw.com/en/egyptian-activists-we-need-to-talk-about-abortion/a-64408518. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Tomossy, George F, et al. "Privacy and Metadata: The Hidden Threat to Whistle-Blowers in Public Health Systems." *Ethics, Medicine and Public Health*, vol. 3, no. 1, 1 Jan. 2017, pp. 124–134, www.sciencedirect.com/topics/social-sciences/right-to-privacy#:~:text=Internationally%20the%20right%20to%20privacy,upon%20his%20honour% 20and%20reputation., https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemep.2017.02.023. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

REPRODUCTIVE RIGHTS ARE HUMAN RIGHTS a HANDBOOK for NATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS INSTITUTIONS.

"13 Ways States Can Protect and Advance Women's Health and Rights." *Center for American Progress*, Center for American Progress, 30 Nov. 2018, www.americanprogress.org/article/13-ways-states-can-protect-advance-womens-health-rights/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Mckenzie, Kendall. "4 Easy Ways to Fight for Abortion Rights." *Plannedparenthood.org*, Planned Parenthood Federation of America, 25 Oct. 2021, www.plannedparenthood.org/blog/4-easy-ways-to-fight-for-abortion-rights. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Icpd Eng 2. "International Conference on Population and Development – ICPD | IISD Earth Negotiations Bulletin." IISD Earth Negotiations Bulletin, 2023, enb.iisd.org/negotiations/international-conference-population-and-development-icpd#:~:text=The%20Programme%20of%20Action%20also,and%20the%20empowerment%2 0of%20women. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"UNFPA - United Nations Population Fund." *Www.unfpa.org*, www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/programme of action Web%20ENGLISH.pdf.

"Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action." *OHCHR*, 2024, www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/vienna-declaration-and-programme-action. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.



"Rights to Sexual and Reproductive Health." *Un.org*, 2024, www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/shalev.htm#:~:text=The%20right%20to%20reproductive %20choice,of%20family%20planning%20and%20contraception. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"SDG Target 3.7 | Sexual and Reproductive Health: By 2030, Ensure Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health-Care Services, Including for Family Planning, Information & Education, & the Integration of Reproductive Health into National Strategies." *Who.int*, 2024, www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/indicator-groups/indicator-group-details/GHO/sdg-target-3.7-sexual-and-reproductive-health#:~:text=Indicator%20Groups-,SDG%20Target%203.7%20%7C%20Sexual%20and%20reproductive%20health%3A%20By%202030%2C,reproductive%20health%20into%20nation al%20strategies. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"A Brief History of Civil Rights in the United States." *Howard.edu*, 2019, library.law.howard.edu/civilrightshistory/women/reproductiverights. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Kennedy, Lesley. "Reproductive Rights in the US: Timeline." *HISTORY*, 23 Jan. 2023, www.history.com/news/reproductive-rights-timeline. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"Poland: Abortion Witch Hunt Targets Women, Doctors." *Human Rights Watch*, 14 Sept. 2023, www.hrw.org/news/2023/09/14/poland-abortion-witch-hunt-targets-women-doctors#:~:text=The%20October%202020%20Constitutional%20Tribunal,for%20abortion% 20under%20Poland's%20highly. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

India. "National Rural Health Mission :: National Health Mission." *Nhm.gov.in*, 2024, nhm.gov.in/index1.php? lang=1&level=1&lid=49&sublinkid=969#:~:text=The%20National%20Rural%20Health%20

lang=1&level=1&lid=49&sublinkid=969#:~:text=The%20National%20Rural%20Health%20Mission,population%2C%20especially%20the%20vulnerable%20groups. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"International Conference on Population and Development." *United Nations Population Fund*, 2022, www.unfpa.org/icpd. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"Veracruz Decriminalized Abortion, but Activists Remain Crucial in Ensuring Access." *NACLA*, 2022, nacla.org/veracruz-abortion-activists. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"Countries Where Abortion Is Illegal 2023 - Wisevoter." *Wisevoter*, 6 Apr. 2023, wisevoter.com/country-rankings/countries-where-abortion-is-illegal/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.



"United States: Abortion Bans Put Millions of Women and Girls at Risk, UN Experts Say." *OHCHR*, 2023, www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2023/06/united-states-abortion-bans-put-millions-women-and-girls-risk-un-experts-say. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Chazan B. "The Story of Abortion Law in Poland." *Entre Nous (Copenhagen, Denmark)*, no. 34-35, 2024, pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12222282/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Weronika Strzyżyńska. "Poland Violated Human Rights of Woman in Abortion Case, European Court Rules." *The Guardian*, The Guardian, 14 Dec. 2023, www.theguardian.com/global-development/2023/dec/14/poland-violated-human-rights-of-woman-in-abortion-case-european-court-

rules#:~:text=Poland%20violated%20human%20rights%20of%20woman%20in%20abortion%20case%2C%20European%20court%20rules,-

European%20court%20of&text=Poland's%202020%20abortion%20legislation%20violated,h uman%20rights%20ruled%20on%20Thursday. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"Maternal and Child Health / Family Planning and Abortion in Madagascar." *African Journal of Fertility, Sexuality, and Reproductive Health*, vol. 1, no. 1, 2020, pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12159500/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Chen, Heather. "Abortion's Illegal in the Catholic Majority Philippines, so More than a Million Women a Year Turn to Other Options." *CNN*, CNN, 19 July 2022, edition.cnn.com/2022/07/18/asia/philippines-abortion-ban-debate-women-rights-roe-wade-intl-hnk-dst/index.html. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Ann, Cherry. "More than Half of Babies in PH Born to Unwed Mothers." *SunStar Publishing Inc.*, SunStar Publishing Inc., 5 Mar. 2023, www.sunstar.com.ph/cebu/local-news/more-than-half-of-babies-in-ph-born-to-unwed-mothers. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Congo. "Democratic Republic of Congo - Ipas." *Ipas*, 13 Dec. 2023, www.ipas.org/where-we-work/africa/democratic-republic-of-congo/. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

"She Decides." She Decides, 2021,

www.shedecides.com/#:~:text=SheDecides%20convenes%2C%20unites%20and%20mobilises,for%20the%20right%20to%20decide. Accessed 7 Jan. 2024.

Citizensinformation.ie. "Unplanned Pregnancy." *Citizensinformation.ie*, 2023, www.citizensinformation.ie/en/health/health-services/reproductive_health/unplanned-pregnancy/#:~:text=for%20unplanned%20pregnancy.-,Abortion%20in%20Ireland,having%20a%20minor%20surgical%20procedure. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.



"International Conference on Population and Development | Population Division." *Un.org*, 2024,

www.un.org/development/desa/pd/events/icpd_cairo94#:~:text=More%20than%20180%20St ates%20participated,for%20the%20next%2020%20years. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.

"A Pro-Choice Feminist Association - Nifin'Akanga." *Nifin'Akanga*, 15 Feb. 2023, www.nifinakanga.org/en/. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.

"Respect for Unborn Human Life: The Church's Constant Teaching." *USCCB*, 2024, www.usccb.org/issues-and-action/human-life-and-dignity/abortion/respect-for-unborn-human-life. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.

Divina, Alyssa. "Solo Parent Benefits in Philippines 2024." *Digido*, Digido, 9 Jan. 2024, digido.ph/articles/solo-parent-

benefits#:~:text=card%20from%20DSWD.-,DSWD%20Solo%20Parent%20Cash%20Assista nce%202024,established%20by%20Republic%20Act%20No. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.

TONG-HYUNG, KIM, and HYUNG-JIN KIM. "Kim Jong Un Calls for North Korean Women to Have More Children." *AP News*, AP News, 4 Dec. 2023, apnews.com/article/north-korea-kim-jong-un-birthrate-72d59d0e2c685549ba8cd8734d8a7fe2. Accessed 14 Jan. 2024.

